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PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X

DETERMINATION BY THE DEPUTY PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN
	Applicant
	:
	Dr S M Yon

	Scheme
	:
	The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS)

	Respondents
	:

:
	Oxford Brookes University (the University)

Oxfordshire County Council (Oxfordshire)


MATTERS FOR DETERMINATION 

1. Dr Yon has complained that she has been incorrectly refused the early payment of her deferred benefits under the LGPS on the grounds of ill health.

2. Some of the issues before me might be seen as complaints of maladministration while others can be seen as disputes of fact or law and indeed, some may be both.  I have jurisdiction over either type of issue and it is not usually necessary to distinguish between them.  This determination should therefore be taken to be the resolution of any disputes of fact or law and/or (where appropriate) a finding as to whether there had been maladministration and if so whether injustice has been caused.

MATERIAL FACTS

3. Dr Yon was employed by the University as a Research Assistant, between 1991 and 1995. The University has provided a copy of a job description for a Research Technician (see Appendix). The University has explained that it no longer has copy of Dr Yon’s job description, but that of a Research Technician is the closest current equivalent. 
4. Dr Yon applied for the early payment of her deferred benefits, on the grounds of ill health, in 2006.

5. The University referred Dr Yon’s case to their medical adviser, Dr Nightingale, an Occupational Health Physician with Adastral Health. Dr Nightingale responded by saying that she had read through Dr Yon’s notes, but did not feel that she could make a final decision without a consultation. She arranged to visit Dr Yon at home.

6. On 3 April 2006, Dr Nightingale wrote to the University,

“I consulted with [Dr Yon], had access to some documentation from her GP, undertook an observational examination, and made my findings accordingly.

In my opinion, and in discussion with my Consultant supervisor, there is insufficient evidence at present to declare that [Dr Yon] is permanently unfit for her previous role as a research technician (albeit with some adjustments to that role). Consequently, I am unable to support the early release of money from the pension fund.”

7. The University states that a certificate, as required by Regulation 97 (see Appendix), is only completed if the occupational health physician is able to certify that the member is permanently unable to carry out the duties of their post. No certificate was completed in Dr Yon’s case.

8. The University informed Dr Yon, on 7 April 2006, that Dr Nightingale had advised that she had insufficient evidence to declare that Dr Yon was permanently incapable of carrying out work of the nature that she used to undertake whilst employed by the University. The University said that it was not able to submit an application for ill health retirement benefits on Dr Yon’s behalf, at this stage.

9. On 9 April 2006, Dr Yon appealed against the decision not to grant her early payment of her benefits. The University asked Dr Nightingale to provide a report detailing the reasons why she did not feel able to certify that Dr Yon was permanently incapable.

10. Dr Nightingale drafted a report, on 2 June 2006, and sent a copy to Dr Yon. She said,

“… I saw [Dr Yon] on 29th March 2006 during a home visit …

[Dr Yon] has several medical conditions which occurred due to a fall in 2001. She informed me that her current symptoms include short-term memory loss; right hearing loss; reduced balance and thus uses a stick for walking; frequency of urination; increased frequency of bowel movements; and neck pains on turning her head.

[Dr Yon] has ongoing medication and treatments for her conditions.

Despite these conditions and symptoms, [Dr Yon] informed me during the consultation that her capabilities are as follows, and my observations are also included:

Walking – [Dr Yon] said that she is easily put off balance. However, when I observed her walking around the house, she mobilized easily and there were no obvious difficulties. In addition, she did not use a stick despite having informed me that she does use a stick. Whenever I directly highlighted this discrepancy and questioned her about it, she then changed her statement and stated that she uses a stick outside but not in the house.

Writing – No problems were declared to me … in fact [Dr Yon] stated that she frequently makes lists to remember things and I saw some of these at a distance in a notepad on the coffee table … She stated that these lists include things like where her husband and children are/need to go, tasks that need to be completed etc.

Bending – [Dr Yon] stated that she can do this but has difficulty rising again. The cause of which is unknown.

Sitting – No problems were declared to me … and none were evident on observation …

Stairs – [Dr Yon] informed me that she uses a banister when walking up/down stairs, but that she can undertake the stairs without any real problems, with the proviso that a banister is provided.

Cleaning – [Dr Yon] informed me that she does all of the cleaning in the house herself without any assistance.

Cooking – [Dr Yon] informed me that, in addition to doing the entire household cleaning tasks, that she also does all of the cooking in her house herself. She informed me that she needs to follow a recipe and has had to re-teach herself to cook.

Lifting – [Dr Yon] informed me that she can lift light-to-medium weights but that she cannot lift heavier weights due to her reduced strength.

Washing and dressing – [Dr Yon] informed me that she does this herself and that she undertakes it slowly.

Household Chores – [Dr Yon] told me that she does all of these herself without assistance.

Energy – [Dr Yon] stated that she is easily tired. However, given the fact that she rises at 6:30am, undertakes all of the cooking, all the cleaning and all household chores herself, I was therefore not surprised that she would be tired (in my opinion it was a large house). She states that she prepares and undertakes tasks in the morning in case she has reduced energy in the afternoon. After getting up at 6:30am, she states that she is likely to be tired by approximately 4pm.

Mood – [Dr Yon] stated that she is frustrated. She states that this is because she understands things but feels frustrated that she cannot do everything. She compared this to it being as if “to have part of her here and part not”.

Work Aspects

[Dr Yon] informed me that she has not worked since 1998, yet it wasn’t until 2001 when she had her accident.

[Dr Yon] stated that she continued to receive royalties due to previous publications subsequent to her research in the past. [Dr Yon] informed me that her husband is the main money earner in the household whilst she is the one who maintains the house.

Opinion

Multiple times before my home visit [Dr Yon] contacted Adastral and, in addition to speaking to administration staff, she also wished to speak to me as well. She asked me and other members of staff why a home visit was needed and why the pension assessment could not be undertaken as a paper exercise. I was concerned about this, especially why there was an apparent reluctance on [Dr Yon’s] part to have me visit her home and I wondered about the reason for this.

A short time after commencing the consultation, [Dr Yon’s] telephone rang. She walked (with no apparent difficulty) to answer it and then returned to the room with a tape-recorder already recording everything. She asked if I minded the entire consultation being taped. Due to the fact that it was already recording and thus my answer would be recorded, I felt I had no option but to agree to this.

At the time of our meeting, [Dr Yon] never offered a copy of the consultation recording to me, and consequently I am concerned about the potential for it being edited.

[Dr Yon] appeared lucid throughout the consultation, with no obvious difficulties except her hearing aid.

Whenever I attended [Dr Yon’s] home, I noticed discrepancies between what I was being told and what I was observing. For example, [Dr Yon] informed me that she has short-term memory loss yet she remembered my name after 45 minutes, asked me about where I lived and she knew that it was in the same area that she had previously been living some years ago. Also, during the consultation, she remembered about different things in the recent past like whenever I asked her a question her answer was “that paperwork I sent to you” or “that document there” or “you have seen that person”. Consequently there was no apparent short-term memory loss on observation by me, but I did not assess it in a formal structured sense.

Due to her hearing problem, I positioned myself on her righthandside so that she could hear me satisfactorily. Given this positioning, there were no obvious problems … I was not asked to repeat things much. Therefore, no objective difficulty was noted by me regarding her hearing with the necessary hearing aid in place.

I arrived at [Dr Yon’s] home at 5pm and she appeared to have good energy, e.g. walking around the house, up and down from the seat to answer the phone, no yawning and no apparent tiredness being obvious etc. This disagrees with her previous statement to me about being tired by 4pm.

I had in my possession during the consultation a copy of the job description for a research technician. [Dr Yon] agreed that the job description adequately explained her previous role … Again this is at variance with the fact that short-term memory loss would mean that potentially she may not remember her previous role.

With particular reference to that job description, and in assessing [Dr Yon’s] eligibility for the early payment of her pension … my understanding is that an individual must be permanently incapable of their contracted role or any comparable role within the company up to retirement age, albeit perhaps with some adjustments to the role.

…

In addition, whilst cooking, [Dr Yon] informed me that she can follow a recipe without any real difficulties. On this basis, I am of the opinion that she may be fit to undertake aspects of her research technician role provided adjustments were to be provided. For example, the production and development of monoclonal antibodies may be possible if guidance/protocol could be followed (similar to a recipe) and thus memory would not be required to a significant degree for such tasks. Also the same adjustments could potentially apply to the application and development of immunoassays, monitoring and maintenance of sales stocks, and general laboratory duties. Thus, provided clear guidance/protocols were to be provided, similar to a recipe, [Dr Yon] may be fit to undertake such tasks.

[Dr Yon] might have more difficulty with some of the other aspects within a research technician role, e.g. she might not be fit for the writing of articles for publication if her memory is indeed poor. Also she might not be able for liaison with collaborating groups and external funding bodies. I assume that these would require memory; however, as demonstrated throughout the consultation and detailed above, there was no apparent memory loss.

Due to her hearing loss, [Dr Yon] would need to carefully choose and perhaps adjust her position in meetings. I’m sure these adjustments would be possible …

Regarding the understanding of principles of the Health and Safety Work Act, COSHH, Pat Regulations, and manual handling requirements, [Dr Yon] may forget these if her memory loss is indeed poor unless guidance was readily available. However, if documentation were to be provided … I do not see [Dr Yon] as permanently unable for this (sic). Nonetheless, given my statements previously in this report, there was no obvious memory loss at any stage throughout the consultation on informal observation.

Regarding her energy; in view of the fact that [Dr Yon] says that she tires easily, the hours or (sic) working may need to be adjusted.

Therefore, I feel [Dr Yon] has the potential to be able to undertake a research technician role if adjustments were to be provided; or she may be fit for comparable employment if adjustments were to be provided. What adjustments are considered to be reasonable is a decision to be made by the employer and is beyond the sphere of the medical remit.

…

I must highlight that my observations, in particular relating to hearing and memory, are at variance with some of the information from the GP in a photocopied report which [Dr Yon] sent to me, but I am unsure whether they wrote their report by performing a paper-check or after a face-to-face consultation …

At present, there is insufficient evidence to declare that [Dr Yon] is permanently unfit for her previous role … (albeit with some adjustments …). Consequently, I am unable to support the early release of money from the pension fund.

Summary:

To summarise, in my opinion and in discussion with my Consultant supervisor, there is insufficient evidence at present to declare that [Dr Yon] is permanently unfit for her previous role … There were differences between her story of symptoms and the capacity seen during the consultation.

On the other hand, in view of [Dr Yon’s] symptoms, the various conditions which she suffers from (or is declared to suffer from), and in view of the traumatic past that has resulted in this situation, the Pension Fund Trustees may wish to release her pension early on compassionate grounds. This is a decision for the Pension Fund Trustees and not a medical one.”

11. The GP’s report, referred to by Dr Nightingale, was prepared in January 2006, in connection with Dr Yon’s application for the early payment of benefits from the Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS). Under the heading “Effect of illness on function”, the GP had said,

“Ataxia – Unsteadiness on walking + needs stick.

Frequent urination + bowels opening. Needs to be close to toilet.

Marked bilateral reduced hearing.

Expressive dysphasia + dysarthria – communication difficulties.

Marked short term memory loss. Can’t remember, has to make notes during conversations.

Difficulties with reading + spelling.

[There is a further line here which has not copied well enough to read]”

12. The GP then gave a comprehensive chronology of Dr Yon’s medical history dating back to 1988, when she had been treated for Astrocytoma. Dr Yon is now in receipt of her pension from the USS.

13. Dr Yon wrote to the University, on 8 June 2006, enclosing a paper from the Association of Spina Bifida and Hydrocephalus (ASBAH), entitled “Cognitive dysfunction in hydrocephalus”. She said the paper had been sent to her when she had experienced problems accessing her pension benefits. Dr Yon said that the paper indicated that the longer hydrocephalus was left untreated, the worse the prognosis. She explained that the first two neuropsychologists she had consulted had not diagnosed hydrocephalus. Dr Yon explained that she had developed dyslexia and problems with adding and subtracting and had asked to be referred to a neurologist. She explained that her neurologist (Dr Davies) had organised a scan and diagnosed hydrocephalus. Dr Yon said that the total time between developing symptoms and insertion of a shunt was approximately 18 – 24 months.

14. Dr Yon’s husband wrote to Dr Nightingale, on 21 June 2006,

“I am [Dr Yon’s] husband and also a Consultant Urologist. I have had to write medical reports and would have liked to see more in depth evidence in your report. Certain comments made confirm [Dr Yon] has no long term memory problems but do not assess her short term memory loss. The relevant medical facts are:-

In 1988 she had an astrocytoma treated with surgery and radiotherapy. Although there has never been a recurrence, she has had problems with severe headaches … she even had admissions to hospital as a result of them. Eventually she became stabalized (sic) on several daily Pethidine injections. She also developed suprapituitary failure …

In 2001 she had a fall down steps, which resulted in her being unconscious for 9 days. At that time she had evidence of damage to cranial nerves 7, 8, 9 and 10. Cranial nerve 8 is now permanently damaged as per her hearing loss and she has genuine problems with balance.

In 2004 she developed large buttock abscesses, which needed several operations to clear up and was in hospital for nearly 3 months. She has been left with weakness in the buttocks. This is why she has difficulty in getting up off the ground.

As she recovered from the buttock abscesses she developed problems with reading and writing … an MRI showed that she had developed hydrocephalus … it was felt wise to delay a ventriculo-peritoneal shunt and this was not done until February 2005. After this she developed problems of frequency of defecation and abdominal pain. Her general health has markedly deteriorated …

If you had examined her you would have found the following:-

There is still some facial weakness – when she eats she often drools …

Complete deafness. In fact she wears a bicross hearing aid which means the side you sit on is not relevant. Despite the hearing aid, she still has severe problems with hearing.

There is some evidence of weakness in swallowing.

There are large defects in both buttocks with severe muscle wasting.

Memory tests show that although she has good mental abilities, she has definite short term memory problems (this is recorded in her hospital medical records).

If you examine her gait with her eyes shut she is unsteady (again as reported in her hospital records).

I have done domiciliary visits in my time and patients I know use a stick for walking do not do so in their home and can look very mobile. Everyone does better in their own home. There are clinical examinations that can be done but do not seem to have been done by you. [Dr Yon] does fall at home and either I have to pick her up or she has to crawl to something she can pull herself up on.

You ignored her pituitary failure, which is a cause of fatigue … These patients are generally tired and easily get fatigued and rarely work until normal retirement age.

If you had asked her to read a book you would have found she would be slow and give up after 2 or 3 pages …

In order to try and cope she writes notes. She has problems with making notes as she makes numerous spelling mistakes so uses a lot of tipex. She can take several goes to write something out and will repeatedly ask help with spelling. If she switches a computer on she can get very confused. While being taught a feature regarding, eg the TV handset, she finds it difficult to learn and can’t always do it.

In view of the above I would make the following comments:-

Walking – [Dr Yon] is easily put off balance and does have falls. She does use a stick outside and particularly on slopes and steps … She cannot go far without getting exhausted.

Writing – This is painstaking when she does the lists and she doesn’t always remember what she wants to write even by the end of a sentence.

Bending – If you had examined her, the defects in her buttocks would have explained her problems.

Cleaning – All cleaning in the house is done by professional cleaners, who come weekly … [Dr Yon] does some cleaning occasionally …

Cooking – A lot of cooking is done at the weekends and I help then …

Lifting – After shopping she can only manage to carry one light bag (eg bunch of flowers) – I do all the rest.

All things are done slowly and leave her exhausted. She only drives short distances and will not drive in heavy traffic.

I can see her giving the impression of doing far more than she does. This is related to her getting difficulties in expressing what she really means. However, most of her day is active as what she does takes much longer than it would for someone else.

Work aspects

[Dr Yon] did actually do simple work for me but particularly since the buttock abscesses and hydrocephalus has become incapable of doing even that simple work.

Opinion

[Dr Yon] could not see the point of your visit when you had a full report from her GP. Her GP’s report is based on regular and many meetings over the years and on letters he has received from Mr Wilson (ENT surgeon), Dr Davies (Neurologist) and Mr Dias (Neurosurgeon) who have seen her several times and have her x-rays and examined and operated on her. Your report is based on one meeting in which there is no recorded history, no review of all the medical records, no clinical examination, inaccurate recording of facts and at complete variance with every other doctor who has seen her.

You also have her job wrong – she was a research scientist whose work was to plan an idea and develop it. [Dr Yon] is rightly proud that the monoclonal antibodies she developed as a result of her studies have considerably enhanced [the University’s] income. I have no doubts that she is unable to do such a job again …”

15. Dr Nightingale forwarded a copy of her report and the response from Dr Yon’s husband to the University, on 26 July 2006. She noted,

“As per [Dr Yon’s] request, I have also included a letter from her husband. However, despite the fact that [Dr Yon’s] husband works within the surgical sphere, you will note that he is not a specialist in occupational medicine, yet on the other hand I am both experienced and qualified in occupational medicine.

Despite the comments made by [Dr Yon’s] family, I maintain my opinion as was previously stated by me on 3rd April 2006, which was as follows:

“in my opinion and in discussion with my Consultant supervisor, there is insufficient evidence at present to declare that [Dr Yon] is permanently unfit for her previous role …(albeit with some adjustments to that role). Consequently, I am unable to support the early release of money from the pension fund.””

16. In response to Dr Yon’s appeal, the University’s Director of Human Resources said,

“I believe that Dr Nightingale’s report is both comprehensive and convincing and I am happy to accept her assessment. It differs of course from your personal assessment and the views expressed by your husband. Accordingly it remains the position that [the University] will not submit an application for [LGPS] ill-health retirement benefits on your behalf at this stage.”

17. Dr Yon was told that she could refer her case to Oxfordshire and that the nominated person (under Regulation 100) was Mr B. Dr Yon submitted a further appeal and asked whether she could provide further evidence. She asked if there would be an independent medical review. Dr Yon’s husband also submitted a further report. He said,

“The main reasons I believe [Dr Yon] cannot work are related to fatigue, her problems with memory and balance.

Fatigue is very difficult to assess … [Dr Yon] developed suprapituitary failure secondary to the radiotherapy used to treat her brain cancer in 1998. Of particular relevance she has been shown to not produce growth hormone and has effectively had a menopause 18 years ago. Growth hormone has been shown to be needed to maintain energy and avoid fatigue. Although [Dr Yon] did go on replacement for a while, she eventually could not tolerate it. She could not tolerate hormone replacement therapy. Thus with these hormone deficiencies it would be very surprising if [Dr Yon] did not have problems with fatigue. Dr Nightingale states that seeing my wife in the late afternoon she did not look tired. So what? As already noted fatigue is hard to assess, and would require getting [Dr Yon] to say do a number of exercises and seeing how much she could do. This was not done and the claim that [Dr Yon] didn’t look tired is meaningless and thus her fatigue has not even been assessed.

Dr Nightingale’s assessment of [Dr Yon’s] memory is contradictory and does not include any test of short-term memory. Things like whether she can follow a recipe are meaningless in this context. The fact that [Dr Yon] writes notes and tape-records consultations is surely the action of someone who has problems remembering what was said. She tape-records all medical consultations so she can re-listen and ask me to hear it as well. She also asks the doctor to write down the summary points so that she can remember what was said. Is this really the action of someone with no problems with memory? The notes she makes each day are not long and to keep them tidy and stop too much crossing out being obvious uses Tipp-ex to remove mistakes. Spelling can be a major problem. [Dr Yon] needs to do things as she remembers them, otherwise rapidly forgets what she is doing – potentially having to go back to the beginning to start again. This would mean that a number of experiments would fail as she would forget where she was in the process – certainly if anything interrupted her. Dr Nightingale did not carry out any assessment of [Dr Yon], for example, following through a new computer program to see how she coped. There are recognised tests for memory. The simplest test consists of about 20 questions – such a test was carried out by the neurologist that sees her. This demonstrated that her memory problems are with short-term memory and that other brain functions are not bad. It is planned to carry out a more formal assessment in the near future. No assessment of this type was carried out by Dr Nightingale. Reviewing [Dr Yon’s] medical history, the previous surgery, radiotherapy, serious head injury and the development of hydrocephalus, again it would be surprising if she did not have problems with her memory.

[Dr Yon] does have problems with her balance. Her head injury involved a fracture through the right temporal bone and it has been shown that all the ear mechanisms on that side were irreversibly damaged, including the balance controls of the inner ear. She has hearing problems on the left side and so is likely to have balance problems … Her buttock muscles are wasted following drainage of abscesses. This makes it difficult to bend and to get up from the floor. She does have falls and has had to be seen in the Accident and Emergency department due to one of these within the last year. If she fell transferring a dangerous chemical the potential for serious injury is high. She does not have the strength to move anything of moderate weight even though that would be necessary if she was to do her old job …

There are also factual errors in the report. For example, Dr Nightingale did not get the type of hearing aid right … She did not realise (check?) that there are cleaners who come weekly who help with the cleaning. We have a gardener for the garden and I exercise the dogs. [Dr Yon] would not be able to cope with the house, garden and the dogs without this support.

Our previous letter was sent to see if Dr Nightingale would accept the problems with her report and this details further the fundamental problems with it. The fact that this report seems to be assessed only by a non-medically trained person, it is difficult to understand how such a person is meant to be able to assess whether the report is valid or not. We hope for a proper medical review of the decision made.”

18. Mr B issued a decision in November 2006. He concluded that it had not been shown that Dr Yon was permanently incapable of discharging efficiently the duties of a Research Assistant/Scientist because of permanent ill health. Mr B said that he had received the following evidence:

18.1. A submission from Dr Yon, dated 19 April 2006, and a letter from Dr Yon, dated 8 June 2006.
18.2. A letter from Dr Yon’s husband, dated 21 June 2006.
18.3. A letter and opinion from Dr Nightingale, dated 3 April 2006.
18.4. Dr Yon’s letter of 9 April 2006.
18.5. A copy of Dr Yon’s occupational health notes.
18.6. Information on cognitive dysfunction in hydrocephalus from the Association of Spina Bifida and Hydrocephalus.
18.7. A copy of Dr Yon’s job description.
18.8. A copy of the Director of Human Resources’ decision, dated 2 August 2006.

19. Mr B referred to Regulation D11(2) of the 1995 LGPS Regulations and Regulation 97(9) of the 1997 LGPS Regulations (see Appendix).

20. Mr B concluded:

20.1. Dr Yon considered Dr Nightingale’s opinion to be flawed, because it was based on one meeting, for which there was no recorded history, no review of medical records, no clinical examination, inaccurate recording of facts and at variance with the opinions of other doctors. However, Dr Yon also considered the home meeting with Dr Nightingale had no point, because Dr Nightingale had a full report from her GP.
20.2. As required by Regulation 97(9), the University had referred Dr Yon’s case to an independent medical practitioner, who holds a qualification in occupational health medicine and has been authorised by the administering authority, for an opinion as to whether Dr Yon was permanently incapable.
20.3. Dr Nightingale, who is qualified as required by the LGPS Regulations, was of the opinion that there was insufficient evidence to certify that Dr Yon’s condition was permanent, as required by the Regulations.
20.4. The USS had agreed to the early release of Dr Yon’s benefits and Dr Yon’s GP’s report had been forwarded to the University and to Dr Nightingale. The decision, by the USS, to pay Dr Yon’s benefits did not mean that this would also apply to the LGPS. The criteria for the early payment of benefits are not the same in each scheme.
20.5. Dr Nightingale is qualified as required by the Regulations, her report was comprehensive and he had no reason not to believe in her professional competence. It was clear, from Dr Nightingale’s report, that she was aware of the requirements of the LGPS.
20.6. His role was to ensure that the University had made its decision in accordance with the requirements of the Regulations, that it had addressed the correct questions and had taken into account all the relevant evidence. He had no power to overturn the opinion of the independent medical practitioner, but he could require the University to reconsider its decision if he thought it had misdirected itself or its decision was perverse.
20.7. Dr Yon had not produced any medical evidence or prognosis from a medical practitioner, who was qualified in occupational health medicine, indicating that her current condition met the LGPS criteria. No medical opinion, other than that provided by her husband, had been provided in support of her application.
20.8. It was his view that the University and Dr Nightingale had addressed the correct question, taken account of all available evidence and that the University had made its decision in accordance with the LGPS Regulations.

SUBMISSIONS
The University
21. The University submits:
21.1. The LGPS Regulations require ill health to be certified by an independent medical practitioner, who is qualified in occupational medicine.
21.2. As Dr Yon had been granted ill health retirement from the USS, it forwarded the medical report, which had been supplied to the USS by Dr Yon’s GP, to Dr Nightingale. Dr Nightingale requested a consultation with Dr Yon.
21.3. Following the consultation, Dr Nightingale confirmed that she did not feel that she had sufficient evidence to declare Dr Yon permanently unfit to undertake her previous role.
21.4. Dr Yon asked for the initial decision not to grant ill health retirement, to be reviewed. Under the appeal procedure, it is possible to refer the applicant to a different doctor, but this is only done if the medical evidence as a whole is either ambiguous or contradictory.
21.5. Dr Nightingale’s report was considered comprehensive and convincing and no further examination was considered necessary.
21.6. The University has fully carried out the requirements of the LGPS Regulations.
21.7. The issuing of a certificate of permanent incapability is only used where the independent medical practitioner certifies that the member is indeed permanently incapable. In other cases, the certification is conducted through the issuing of a formal medical assessment, which provides the certified judgement of the Occupational Health Physician. They did, of course, receive such a certified opinion from Dr Nightingale.

21.8. Whilst Dr Nightingale’s assessment clearly differs from that of Dr Yon and her husband, there was no reason to doubt Dr Nightingale’s professional opinion.

21.9. They agree that they are not bound by the opinion given by the Occupational Health Physician. If there were grounds for believing that the opinion was perverse of ill-informed, they would wish to take further advice before reaching a final decision. They do not accept that it would have been reasonable to interpret the long and thorough report from Dr Nightingale as either perverse or ambiguous.
21.10. While Dr Yon’s husband disagreed with Dr Nightingale’s report, he is self-evidently parti pris. Dr Yon’s GP’s comments were very limited in scope and did not specifically relate to a decision about her long-term employment.

21.11. The LGPD IDR Guide makes it clear that employers should make their judgement based on independent expertise. The Guide says that “independent” is to be interpreted as “having no previous involvement with the case and not acting as the representative of any particular party”. Dr Yon’s husband was clearly acting as a representative and had a material financial interest in the outcome of the case. It would, in their view, be highly unsafe and probably ultra vires to place any weight on his opinions.

21.12. They considered Dr Nightingale’s report with an open mind. They do not agree that Dr Nightingale’s report was sufficiently uncertain in relation to household and other tasks or memory loss, to justify further observation or medical investigations. Dr Nightingale’s evidence is sufficiently definitive to be relied upon. The evidence is not couched in tentative or uncertain language.

21.13. Dr Nightingale was not expressing an opinion, but reporting her observations. They do not feel that they would suggest to any open-minded reader that further evidence was required. Particularly when the only counter “evidence” was from people with an obvious conflict of interest.

21.14. They are confident that Dr Nightingale’s association with the University and the Higher Education sector meant that her understanding of the job description for a Research Assistant would not be a source of confusion. Few research technicians play a significant role in actually writing academic articles. Their role is normally to undertake and report the outcomes from a particular set of tests or experimental procedures.

Oxfordshire
22. Oxfordshire submits:
22.1. The LGPS Regulations require ill health to be assessed by an independently registered medical practitioner, with a suitable qualification in occupational medicine. In order for the benefits to be paid, the medical practitioner must certify that the individual is permanently incapable, by reason of ill health or infirmity of mind or body, of discharging efficiently the duties of their former employment.
22.2. It would be inappropriate for an employer to challenge the decision made by a suitably qualified occupational health physician, given the qualifications required under the LGPS Regulations.

22.3. The Regulations require the decision to be made by a suitably qualified occupational health physician rather than the employer. The employer is bound by the advice given by the occupational health physician. There is no provision within the Regulations for the employer to disregard this advice. The employer would be at risk of asking non-medically trained staff to make decisions based upon medical information.

22.4. Medical assessment by the independent medical practitioner concluded that there was insufficient medical evidence to declare that Dr Yon was permanently unfit for her previous role.
22.5. Oxfordshire’s role, as administering authority, is not to assess the medical evidence, but to ensure that the Regulations have been properly applied. Their role is to ensure that all medical evidence has been considered.
22.6. It is content that procedures have been properly followed.
22.7. Its file records various claims as to whether all medical evidence has been considered and the interpretation of the medical evidence. However, both stages of the appeal procedure confirm that all medical evidence has been assessed.

22.8. It accepts that the certificate used does not meet the requirements of Regulation 97 and will arrange for it to be updated. However, this does not in any way change the decision of the medical adviser.

Dr Yon

23. Dr Yon has submitted a letter from her Consultant Neurologist, Dr Davies, dated 26 September 2007. He says,
“Dr Yon has a complex medical history. She initially developed chronic cervicalgia in 1979 managed conservatively with osteopathy. In 1988 a grade II/III astrocytoma was diagnosed and partially excised and subsequently treated with cranial radiation. Ventriculomegaly and a communicating hydrocephalus were noted on imaging in 1989. She developed secondary hypopituitarism needing hormone replacement therapy. Subsequently she sustained a fall in May 2001 culminating in a severe head injury, basal skull fracture and left temporal lobe contusion and left frontal lobe haematoma and right inner ear damage.

Dr Yon first consulted me in October 2004 with symptoms of increasing headache and reported higher cortical impairment. This was characterised by difficulties with spelling, calculation, speech and recall. In addition there had been deterioration in short term memory. Symptomatic hydrocephalus was diagnosed and a ventriculo-peritoneal shunt inserted by my Neurosurgical colleagues. Her headache temporarily improved but she continues with memory and cognitive problems. She also suffers recurrent vomiting.

Dr Yon has re-consulted me intermittently over the last 18 months to 2 years due to her medical problems. This has been characterised by troublesome occipital frontal headache which when present has interfered with her daily ability to function. In addition she has had recurrent vomiting and difficulties with memory and cognitive function.
Dr Yon has had multiple investigations including CSF analysis, brain MRI which have not shown so far any divertible cause for her symptomatology thus far we have not been able to suggest any specific treatment that may directly improve the situation for her. She has also seen my neuro surgical colleagues to ensure that there is no surgical treatment that may help. Thus any treatment would be largely to support her through her daily life.
The recurrent vomiting has been investigated by my gastro intestinal colleagues and has shown some gastric irritation and they have recommended appropriate therapy, which has proved only partially successful.

It is my neurological opinion that it is very unlikely that Dr Yon would be able to return to her previous role as a Research Physician as a result of her persisting refractory symptoms.”

CONCLUSIONS

24. Dr Yon was already a deferred member of the LGPS in 1997 and, therefore, her application falls to be considered under the 1995 Regulations. Regulation D11 provides for a member to be entitled to a pension and retirement grant (lump sum) from the date on which he/she becomes permanently incapable, by reason of ill-health or infirmity of mind or body, of discharging effectively the duties of his/her former employment. Thus, for Dr Yon to receive her benefits under Regulation D11, she must be permanently incapable of discharging the duties of a Research Assistant.
25. The 1997 Regulations do come into play in providing for the decision as to whether Dr Yon has an entitlement to benefits, to be made by the University (under Regulation 97(2)). Regulation 97(9) required the University to seek the opinion of an appropriately qualified occupational health practitioner (OHP), “[b]efore making a decision as to whether a member may be entitled” (my emphasis). Contrary to what Oxfordshire believes, the Regulation is quite clear that it is the employer (not the OHP) who makes the decision. That may well involve non-medically trained staff in reviewing medical opinions, but that is what is required by the Regulations. It is also, in my experience, the situation which commonly prevails amongst occupational pension schemes.
26. The OHP must be able to certify that he/she has not previously advised on the case for which the certificate has been requested; and that he/she is not acting, and has not at any time acted, as the representative of the member, the LGPS employer or any other party in relation to the same case.
27. The University says that a Regulation 97 certificate is only produced if the OHP is of the opinion that the member is permanently incapable. I am not persuaded that this conforms with the requirements of Regulation 97. A certificate must be provided (to include the OHP’s statement as to prior involvement and representation) as to whether, in his opinion, the member is permanently incapable of discharging efficiently the duties, prior to the Employer’s decision. That certificate will be but one piece of evidence to be taken into account in reaching a decision. In effect, by requiring a certificate only where the OHP’s opinion is that the member is permanently incapable, the University has taken a decision (that Dr Yon is not entitled to benefits under Regulation D11) without the appropriate certificate. I suggest that the University takes steps to regularise its procedures.
28. The University argues that it did receive a certified opinion from Dr Nightingale. However, neither of Dr Nightingale’s letters meets the requirements of Regulation 97; lacking, as they do, any statement to the effect that she had not previously advised on the case and was not, and had not at any time, acted for any party to the case.
29. Although the decision under Regulation 97 is not a discretionary one, but a finding of fact, the University should follow the same established principles in reaching its decision. It must set aside all irrelevant matters and consider only the relevant ones. It must interpret the Regulations correctly and ask itself the right questions. It must not misdirect itself as to the law and it must not reach a perverse decision. In this context, a perverse decision is one which no other decision maker, faced with the same circumstances, could reasonably come to.

30. Dr Yon and her husband expressed some concern that the medical evidence was to be assessed by a “non-medically trained person”. I can understand their concern and, indeed, it is not an easy task for the employer. I can, of course, sympathise with the decision maker because, when a case comes to me, I am in a similar position. However, as I have said, the Regulations require the Employer (the University) to make the decision and, therefore, it must.
31. In coming to a decision, the University is entitled to rely upon the advice it receives from the OHP, but it is not bound by that advice. It is required to make a decision, not just to rubber-stamp the view expressed by the OHP, i.e. it has an active rather than a passive role. The Regulations, in requiring the certificate to state “whether”, in the opinion of the OHP, the member is permanently incapable, clearly envisage the (perhaps unlikely, but nonetheless possible) situation in which the Employer’s decision conflicts with the OHP’s opinion. The approach I expect the decision maker to take therefore is to read all the available medical reports with a questioning but open mind.
32. One of the main issues for Dr Yon is her loss of short term memory. In her report, of 2 June 2006, Dr Nightingale conceded that, if it was the case that Dr Yon was suffering from short term memory loss, there were aspects of the role of research technician that Dr Yon would be unable to undertake. For example, writing articles and liaising with outside organisations. Dr Nightingale, on the basis solely of her observations during her visit to Dr Yon’s home, was not persuaded that Dr Yon was suffering from short term memory loss. However, she herself acknowledged that she had not carried out any formal tests.
33. In view of the importance of this issue and the strong representations from Dr Yon’s husband, I cannot understand why the University did not take steps to clarify the situation. Whilst the Regulations required the University to seek the opinion of an OHP (such as Dr Nightingale), it is not limited to this evidence alone. The fact that information comes from a source close to the member is not sufficient reason for that information simply to be disregarded out of hand. In fact, in the circumstances, Dr Yon’s husband could provide useful information to help the University’s decision making process, given that he not only lived with Dr Yon, and therefore had a better knowledge of her day to day capabilities than Dr Nightingale, with the best will in the world, could amass on the basis of a single visit, but was also medically trained himself, albeit in another discipline. The University is exaggerating the issue when it says that it would be “ultra vires” for it to place any weight on his opinions. It might be ultra vires for it to base a decision solely on such information, but not for them to review it as part of the available evidence. As for its suggestion that Dr Yon’s husband had a vested interest in the case, and that this influenced his opinion, the University should be extremely careful before it makes such statements. I have seen no evidence whatsoever to suggest that Dr Yon’s husband did anything other than offer an honest, objective opinion, which the University should perhaps have received with more gratitude.
34. There will be cases (and I consider Dr Yon’s to be one such) where input from a specialist is helpful; particularly when such a view could easily be made available, and the only medical opinion available is based on one occasion of informal observation. Dr Yon and her husband had informed Dr Nightingale and the University that she had consulted specialists. I am surprised that no attempt was made to contact them. It might be argued that, at the appeal stage, Dr Yon could have produced reports from her doctors, such as that which has been provided for me. This was, indeed, an option. However, a member’s entitlement falls to be decided by the Employer and it is the responsibility of the Employer to ensure that it is properly informed when making that decision.
35. There were clearly disagreements between Dr Nightingale and Dr Yon’s husband, and between Dr Nightingale and Dr Yon’s GP. Not all of these were of a medical nature. For example, the evidence given as to the amount of housework Dr Yon did. I have seen no evidence to suggest that the University queried such discrepancies or sought any clarification. There is nothing wrong with preferring one doctor’s opinion over another’s, but this should be the result of a careful weighing up of all the available evidence. There will always be a natural inclination towards one’s own adviser, but this has to be tempered. Despite its protestations to the contrary, I am not persuaded that the University came to review Dr Nightingale’s report with an open and questioning mind. Had it done so, it would have asked itself (and Dr Nightingale) further questions, in particular as regards the question of memory loss, the discrepancies relating to the household and other tasks of which Dr Yon was actually capable, and to ensure Dr Nightingale properly understood the role formerly undertaken by Dr Yon (especially as Dr Nightingale assumed the job description was correct as confirmed by Dr Yon, despite the possibility that Dr Yon’s memory loss may have affected her recollection). Not to have done so, was maladministration on its part, which resulted in Dr Yon’s application not being properly considered. I uphold her complaint against the University.
36. As this is a finding of fact, rather than the exercise of a discretion, it would be open to me to direct the payment of Dr Yon’s benefits. In the circumstances, however, I think it prudent to remit the decision to the University and direct it to seek further medical advice and obtain the certificate as required by the Regulations.

37. Oxfordshire (in the shape of Mr B) came to consider Dr Yon’s case at the second stage of the appeal procedure (under Regulation 102). It argues that its role is not to assess the medical evidence, but to ensure that the Regulations have been properly applied. It is difficult to see how it can determine whether the Regulations have been properly applied if it does not assess the medical evidence.
38. Mr B said that his role was to ensure that the University had made its decision in accordance with the requirements of the Regulations, that it had addressed the correct questions and had taken into account all the relevant evidence. He went on to say that he had no power to overturn the opinion of the independent medical practitioner, but he could require the University to reconsider its decision if he thought it had misdirected itself or its decision was perverse. In order to determine whether the University’s decision could be described as perverse, there would need to be some consideration of the medical evidence.
39. Mr B noted that Dr Yon had not provided a report from an OHP to support her application. As I have said, I do not consider that the medical evidence need be confined to the opinion of an OHP. Mr B (on behalf of Oxfordshire) failed to have due consideration for Dr Yon’s application for much the same reasons as the University. He did not question the obvious discrepancies between the evidence produced by Dr Nightingale and Dr Yon’s GP, or between Dr Nightingale’s report and that submitted by Dr Yon’s husband. No further evidence was sought during the appeal procedure and, for this reason, it failed to address the maladministration in the initial decision making process. I find this to be maladministration on the part of Oxfordshire. To this extent, I uphold Dr Yon’s complaint against Oxfordshire.
DIRECTIONS

40. I now direct that, within 28 days of the date hereof, the University shall reconsider Dr Yon’s application under Regulation D11, having first sought further medical advice and having obtained the required certificate.

41. I further direct that, within 14 days of the date hereof, the University shall pay Dr Yon £400 and Oxfordshire shall pay her £200 in recognition of the distress and inconvenience the maladministration I have identified will have caused to her at an extremely difficult time.

CHARLIE GORDON

Deputy Pensions Ombudsman

18 February 2008

APPENDIX
LGPS Regulations 1995

42. Regulation D11 of the Scheme, under the heading of “Entitlement to deferred retirement benefits (“preserved benefits”)” reads:

“(1) If a member who ceases to hold a local government employment- 

(a) …

(b)
fulfils one of the following requirements, namely –

(i) he has a statutory pension entitlement; …

then, … he becomes entitled in relation to that employment to a standard retirement pension and a standard retirement grant payable from the appropriate date; …

(2) For the purposes of paragraph (1) the “appropriate date”, in relation to any person, is his 65th birthday or, if earlier, the earliest of the following-

(a) …

(b) any date on which he becomes permanently incapable, by reason of ill-health or infirmity of mind or body, of discharging effectively the duties of the employment he has ceased to hold; …”

The Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions) Regulations 1997

43. Regulation 4 provides,

“(1)
Except where these Regulations provide otherwise, in relation to the persons specified in paragraph (2) -

(a)
the saved provisions shall continue to apply,

(b)
the common provisions shall apply, and

(c)
Part II (except regulations 49 and 50) and Parts III and V of the 1997 regulations shall not apply (except in so far as they affect the common provisions).

(2)
Those persons are-

(a)
any person who immediately before the commencement date was a deferred member ...”

44. “The saved provisions” are defined as the 1995 Regulations “in so far as they remain capable of having effect”. The “common provisions” are defined as “regulations 49 and 50 and Part IV of the 1997 regulations and the Investment Regulations”.
LGPS Regulations 1997

45. Regulation 97 provided:

“97.-(1) Any question concerning the rights or liabilities under the Scheme of any person other than a Scheme employer must be decided in the first instance by the person specified in this regulation.

(2) Any question whether a person is entitled to a benefit under the Scheme must be decided - 

(a) …

(b) in any other case by the Scheme employer who last employed him.

(3) That decision must be made as soon as is reasonably practicable after the earlier of the date the employment ends or …
…
(9) Before making a decision as to whether a member may be entitled under regulation 27 [Ill-health] or under regulation 31 [Other early leavers: deferred retirement benefits and elections for early payment] on the ground of ill-health or infirmity of mind or body, the Scheme employer must obtain a certificate from an independent registered medical practitioner who is qualified in occupational health medicine as to whether in his opinion the member is permanently incapable of discharging efficiently the duties of the relevant local government employment because of ill-health or infirmity of mind or body.

(9A) The independent registered medical practitioner must be in a position to certify, and must include in his certification a statement, that - 

(a) he has not previously advised, or given an opinion on, or otherwise been involved in the particular case for which the certificate has been requested; and
(b) he is not acting, and has not at any time acted, as the representative of the member, the Scheme employer or any other party in relation to the same case.

 (10) If the Scheme employer is not the member's appropriate administering authority, before referring any question to any particular registered medical practitioner under paragraph (9) the Scheme employer must obtain the approval of the appropriate administering authority to their choice of registered medical practitioner.

…
(14) In paragraph (9)- 

(a) “permanently incapable” has the meaning given by regulation 27(5) and
(b) “qualified in occupational health medicine” means —

(i) holding a diploma in occupational medicine (D Occ Med) or an equivalent qualification issued by a competent authority in an EEA State; and for the purposes of this definition, "competent authority" has the meaning given by the General and Specialist Medical Practice (Education, Training and Qualification) Order 2003; or

(ii) being an Associate, a Member or a Fellow of the Faculty of Occupational Medicine or an equivalent institution of an EEA State.”

46. In Regulation 27(5), “permanently incapable” is defined as,

“the member will, more likely than not, be incapable, until, at the earliest, his 65th birthday.”

47. Regulation 102 and 103 cover the second stage of the appeal procedure and provide,

“Reference of disagreement to the appropriate administering authority
102.-(1) Where an application about a disagreement has been made under regulation 100 an application may be made to appropriate administering authority to reconsider the disagreement by the person who applied under regulation 100.

(2) The application must set out particulars of the grounds on which it is made, including a statement that the applicant under this regulation wishes the disagreement to be reconsidered by the appropriate administering authority.

(3) An application made by the person who applied under regulation 100 must set out the matters required by paragraph (4) or, as the case may be, paragraph (5) of that regulation to be included in his application.

(4) The application must be accompanied by a copy of any written notification issued under regulation 98.

(5) Where notice of a decision on the application under regulation 100 has been issued, the application under this regulation must state why the applicant is dissatisfied with that decision and be accompanied by a copy of that notice.

(6) The application must be signed by or on behalf of the person making it.

(7) An application for reconsideration may only be made before the expiry of the period of six months beginning with the relevant date.

(8) Where notice of a decision on the matters raised by the application under regulation 100 has been issued, the relevant date is the date of that notice.

(9) Where-

(a) an interim reply has been sent under regulation 101(2) but

(b) no notice of decision has been issued before the expiry of the period of one month beginning with the date specified in the reply as the expected date for issuing the decision,

the relevant date is the date with which that period expires.

(10) Where no notice of decision has been issued or interim reply has been sent before the expiry of the period of three months beginning with the date the application under regulation 100 was made, the relevant date is the date with which that period expires.”

Notice of decisions under regulation 102
103.-(1) The appropriate administering authority must issue their decision on the matters raised by an application under regulation 102 to the parties to the disagreement by notice in writing before the expiry of the period of two months beginning with the date the application was received (but see paragraph (2)).

(2) If no such notice is issued before the expiry of that period, an interim reply must be sent immediately to those parties, setting out the reasons for the delay and an expected date for issuing the decision.

(3) A notice under paragraph (1) must include-

(a) a statement of the decision;

(b) in a case where there has been a decision made under regulation 100, an explanation as to whether and, if so, to what extent that decision is confirmed or replaced;

(c) a reference to any legislation or provisions of the Scheme relied upon;

(d) in a case where the disagreement relates to the exercise of a discretion, a reference to the provisions of the Scheme conferring the discretion;

(e) a statement that OPAS (the Pensions Advisory Service) is available to assist members and beneficiaries of the Scheme in connection with any difficulty with the Scheme which remains unresolved  and of the address at which it may be contacted; and

(f) a statement that the Pensions Ombudsman may investigate and determine any complaint or dispute of fact or law in relation to the Scheme made or referred in accordance with the Pension Schemes Act 1993 and of the address at which he may be contacted.”

Job Description

48. The University have provided a job description for a Research Technician in the School of Biological and Molecular Sciences. The post holder is required to hold a BSc and to be experienced in tissue culture. The overall purpose of the post is said to be “Contract Research”. The main duties are said to be:

48.1. The production and development of Monoclonal Antibodies

48.2. Application and development of Immunoassays
48.3. Monitor and maintenance of Cell Stocks
48.4. Writing Articles for publication
48.5. Liaison with collaborating groups and external funding bodies
48.6. General Laboratory duties including the following:-

monitoring and maintaining equipment

maintaining stock levels of consumables

specialist laboratory cleaning

48.7. To understand the principles of the Health & Safety at Work Act 1974 COSHH and PAT regulations and manual handling requirements

48.8. To provide across School technical support when required.
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